FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/27/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 2/26/2025 4:40 PM

No. _____

Case #: 1039026

Court of Appeals No. 85749-5-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES W. CHERBERG and NAN CHOT CHERBERG, husband and wife,

Respondents.

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Paul J. Lawrence, wSBA #13557 Matthew J. Segal, WSBA #29797 Jacob A. Zuniga, WSBA #48458 Noe M. Merfeld, WSBA #56876 PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Washington 98101–3404 (206) 245-1700

I. INTRODUCTION AND PETITIONER IDENTITY

A lawyer representing a policyholder cannot withhold material information from an insurer during a claims investigation. They have a duty to cooperate. A long line of this Court's cases, from *Georgian House of Interiors v. Glens Falls Insurance*, 21 Wn.2d 470, 494–95, 151 P.2d 598 (1944), to the seminal case, *Tran v. State Farm Fire & Casualty*, 136 Wn.2d 214, 224, 961 P.2d 358 (1998), establish an insured breaches the duty to cooperate if (1) in response to requests for material information, (2) an insured substantially fails to respond to the requests, and (3) the insurer is prejudiced. *Id*.

The Superior Court followed *Tran*, granted summary judgment, and dismissed the Cherbergs' case because they withheld material information despite repeated requests from Fidelity, to Fidelity's prejudice. The Court of Appeals did not follow *Tran*. Instead, the Court affirmed Fidelity sought material information, but reversed as to the compliance and prejudice prongs of *Tran. Cherberg v. Fid. Nat'l Title Ins.*, No. 85749-5-I, 2024 WL 4930534, at *8-11 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 2, 2024) ("the Opinion"). The Court of Appeals held there was a fact issue whether the Cherbergs and their counsel substantially complied with Fidelity's material requests, even though they indisputably picked and chose what information they provided, while withholding what they knew could hurt their claim. The Court of Appeals thus conflated the question of how much the Cherbergs and their lawyer knew about the easements (relevant to whether the easements were excluded from coverage) with the undisputed fact that they withheld requested documents and information from Fidelity. Since that information was held material, there was no justification for the Cherbergs' failure to comply. The Court of Appeals therefore articulated a new standard to justify the Cherbergs' lack of compliance - "extreme stonewalling." Id. at *9.

The Court of Appeals further contravened *Tran* by finding an issue of fact as to prejudice, even though Fidelity presented unrebutted evidence of prejudice. Instead, the Court of Appeals misstated the duty of a title insurer in Washington, as established in *Barstad v. Stewart Title Guaranty*, 145 Wn.2d 528, 539, 39 P.3d 984 (2002). That a title insurer did not include easements on its title commitment before closing has nothing to do with the insured's duty to respond to requests for material information after a claim is filed.

The Court of Appeals decision thus conflicts with *Tran* and *Barstad* and sets an improper standard rewarding lawyers for manipulating the claims process. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' reversal of summary judgment on a policy exclusion applicable to the insured's acceptance of an easement conflicts with *Tumwater State Bank v. Commonwealth Title Insurance*, 51 Wn. App. 166, 170–71, 752 P.2d 930 (1988). The Cherbergs agreed to accept the easements on the property, subject to modification after closing. The Court of Appeals, contrary to *Tumwater* held that was not dispositive. Finally, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the underlying decision contravenes *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989), and other authority concerning textbook civil procedures. This is especially so where, as here, the Superior Court appropriately granted summary judgment on the ground that the Cherbergs failed to present *any* evidence of certain damages. The Court of Appeals summarily reversed on this issue without citing any evidence supporting those specific demands.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Fidelity seeks review of Sections II.A, C.2–3, and D.1–2, of the underlying Court of Appeals decision. Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does a policyholder breach the duty of cooperation as a matter of law when that policyholder withholds material information from an insurer investigating a claim and the insurer submits unrebutted evidence of prejudice to that insurer's claim investigation? Does a policyholder agree to an easement as a matter of law when purchasing property subject to a post-closing reformation-right to modify that easement?

Does a policyholder need to present admissible evidence in support of that policyholder's damage demands to survive summary judgment?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Cherbergs acquired waterfront property subject to a post-closing reformation-right.

James and Nan Cherberg bought Mercer Island waterfront property on June 29, 2012. CP 987, 1623–27. Their Purchase and Sale Agreement (PSA) mentioned a landscape easement and provided the Cherbergs the right to reform that easement post-closing.¹ The Cherbergs, aided by their personal attorney (Charles Klinge), obtained that right because the sellers (the Griffiths) previously recorded the easement on the property.

¹ *Cherberg v. Griffith*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 1024, 2017 WL 5569211, *1–3 (2017) (*Cherberg I*); *Cherberg v. Griffith*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 1014, 2021 WL 4261550, *1–3 (2021), *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1042, 502 P.3d 859 (2022) (*Cherberg II*).

The easement at issue to which the PSA referred was a landscape easement that reserved an outcrop for the Griffiths' preferred landscaping.² The Cherbergs obtained the right in their PSA to reform that outcrop for the purpose of constructing a new dock. *Compare* CP 1057 *with* CP 997–1002, 1450–51, 1624–27, 1630–34, 1637, 1639, 2822, 2826.

After closing, the Cherbergs asserted their reformation right to require the Griffiths to execute a Joint Use Agreement so the Cherbergs could build their dock. CP 1625–26, 1634–35, 1639, *Cherberg II*, 2021 WL 4261550, at *2. The Griffiths refused, claiming the PSA gave them the right to object to the location and design of the Cherbergs' prospective dock. CP 1632–34; *Cherberg II*, 2021 WL 4261550, at *5–6.

²*Cherberg II*, 2021 WL 4261550, *1–3. A second easement referencing a dock is not a material component of this litigation or the litigation with the Griffiths. The Cherbergs knew before closing they could not access the Griffiths' existing dock. Footnote eight, *infra*.

B. The Cherbergs violated their duty to cooperate with Fidelity.

After failed offers addressing the Griffiths' concerns (CP 1627–28, 1635–36, 1078, 1081), Klinge submitted a claim under the Cherbergs' title policy because that policy did not identify the landscape easement (or dock easement) at the time of purchase. CP 1075.

Fidelity accepted the claim under a reservation of rights and started an investigation into the underlying circumstances. Fidelity asked what the Cherbergs knew about easements before closing, an issue relevant to whether they were covered under the title policy or excluded from coverage. *See* CP 353, 356, 384, 389, 110–12. The Cherbergs, through counsel, disclaimed knowledge. CP 1075, 362–63, 387, 393. In doing so, the Cherbergs and their attorney failed to disclose pre-closing documents and information known to them regarding the easements. After the Cherbergs sued Fidelity, the full extent of these documents and information withheld came to light.

1. The Cherbergs direct Fidelity to sue the Griffiths, alleging they were unaware of the easements before purchase.

After accepting coverage, Fidelity retained an attorney (Karen Cobb) to represent the Cherbergs on their title claims. Cobb attempted to settle without success. CP 404. Klinge then directed Cobb to sue the Griffiths. CP 1146, 1139. The Cherbergs' complaint alleged four causes of action (quiet title, ejectment, breach of contract, and negligent misrepresentation), of which only two (i.e, the claims for quiet title and ejectment) could be conceivably covered under the title policy. CP 1184– 88.

2. Fidelity revised its reservation of rights after learning the Cherbergs may have known about the easements.

After reviewing the Griffiths' amended answer, which alleged the Cherbergs knew of the easements before executing the PSA, Fidelity updated its reservation of rights to include the potential applicability of Exclusion 3(a), relating to the insureds' consent to existing easements. CP 1260–62. The updated coverage letter explained Fidelity would continue to prosecute the action against the Griffiths but would withdraw coverage if Fidelity discovered the Cherbergs consented to the easements. CP 1261.

3. The Cherbergs disavow pre-closing knowledge of the easements.

During discovery in the Griffith litigation, Cobb received documents from the real estate agent who jointly represented the Cherbergs and Griffiths (Kris Robbs), including a pre-closing email, in which Klinge instructed the Cherbergs to obtain further disclosure regarding the easements. CP 1266–67, 1278. Understandably surprised, Cobb questioned her client: "Unless I am misinterpreting something, it confirms you had knowledge about new dock easement before closing." CP 1272. The Cherbergs denied such knowledge. *Id*.

When Cobb pressed, the Cherbergs stated that although they understood Robbs to be referring to an easement, Robbs purportedly never used that word "verbally," they instead knew

9

about the easement because Robbs wrote it into the PSA.³ The Cherbergs admitted to Cobb that based on their communications with Robbs, they understood their dock could not be built within the landscape easement unless the landscape easement was reformed. CP 2383–85.

C. The Cherbergs obtain specific performance, damages, and attorney fees in their suit against the Griffiths.

The Cherbergs obtained specific performance of their agreement with the Griffiths after showing the terms of their right to reform the landscape easement were clear, cogent, and convincing, and not subject to a factual dispute. CP 1286–87. The Cherbergs' negligent misrepresentation claim was dismissed because the specific performance award meant undisputed evidence (including declaration testimony by Robbs concerning her statements to the Cherbergs) established the Cherbergs knew of the easements when executing their PSA. CP 1281–82, CP

³ Compare 1272, 1278, with CP 1007–08 but see Section IV.E. infra.

1469–72. The Cherbergs and Griffiths nonsuited all remaining claims and counterclaims to obtain appellate review of those summary judgment orders. CP 1295–96

The Griffiths on appeal successfully argued fact issues precluded specific performance on summary judgment. *Cherberg I*, 2017 WL 5569211, at *5–6. The Cherbergs nevertheless obtained specific performance once more on remand, which was upheld on appeal. *Cherberg II*, 2021 WL 4261550, at *6–10. The appellate court also upheld a corresponding award of attorney fees, damages, and significant prejudgment interest on both, which provided the Cherbergs the full benefit of their PSA. *Id*.

Notably, the Cherbergs did not appeal the summary judgment dismissal of their negligent misrepresentation claim. The decision not to do so thus rendered the conclusion that Robbs informed the Cherbergs about the easements a verity. *Compare* CP 1281–82, CP 1469–72 *with In re Estate of Black*, 153 Wn.2d. 152, 170, 102 P.3d 796 (2004) (unappealed summary judgment

orders carry collateral estoppel effect). That conclusion is also supported by the findings of fact and conclusions of law *Cherberg II* upheld. CP 1623–40.

D. Fidelity withdraws coverage based on the finding the Cherbergs agreed to the landscape easement and the Cherbergs sue Fidelity.

Fidelity, citing the unappealed summary judgment and evidence underlying that judgment, declined to defend the Cherbergs' non-title claims on appeal. Fidelity withdrew coverage because: (1) No covered claims remained, and (2) The circumstances established the Cherbergs agreed to the easements within the meaning of Exclusion 3(a). CP 1292–93. At the time, Fidelity still did not know of the full extent of the Cherbergs' failure to cooperate. *See infra* Section IV.E.

The Cherbergs then sued Fidelity for breach of contract, bad faith, and violations of Washington's Consumer Protection and Insurance Fair Conduct Acts. CP 1–9.

E. The extent of the Cherbergs' pre-closing knowledge comes to light after Fidelity learned of discovery violations more than six years after the Cherbergs tendered their claim.

Because they sued Fidelity, the Cherbergs were required to respond to discovery. In 2019, they produced more than 11,000 pages after Fidelity moved to compel before the Superior Court and a Special Master. CP 1432–44, 1910–11, 2052-62, CP 2477-91, 2691-2715, 2727-31. As elaborated below, many of those pages contained evidence establishing the Cherbergs' knowledge concerning the easements was substantially greater than what Klinge led Fidelity to believe during Fidelity's investigation. Others revealed the Cherbergs and Klinge knew their representations to Fidelity were less than accurate and were frustrating Fidelity's claim process. This information should have been provided to Fidelity during its **2013** claim investigation.

1. Pre-closing communications establish the Cherbergs knew they would need to reform the landscape easement to build a dock.

The Cherbergs improperly withheld records from Fidelity that memorialized pre-closing exchanges-of-information by and between the Cherbergs, Robbs, Klinge, and the Cherbergs' dock builder (Ted Burns) that collectively established the Cherbergs knew prior to closing that they needed to address the landscape easement to build their desired dock. CP 1035, 1047, 1463.

Specifically, the Cherbergs' notes reflect Robbs' discussed the "easements" when they toured the property. CP 1025–26. Robbs explained that the Griffiths would retain rights in the landscape outcrop, and the Cherbergs would not have use of the dock if they purchased the property. *Compare id. with* CP 993– 94, 998–99, 1007–08. *See also* CP 1001–02, 1047, 1078–79, 1081, 1085, 1466.

Klinge then instructed the Cherbergs to reject a property inspection to obtain additional information regarding the easements. CP 1035.⁴ The Cherbergs then asked Robbs to include language within the PSA to establish how the landscape easement would be modified for the construction of their new dock. Robbs did so. CP 1053. *See also* CP 1000–01. Beyond that, the Cherbergs failed to follow Klinge's advice. RP 23; CP 1000–01, 2797–99. *Compare* CP 1078–79 *with* CP 1081.

As the Cherbergs explained to their dock builder, they understood Klinge's warnings but moved forward anyway (CP 1047), believing there was no doubt about the Griffiths' obligation to consent to easement reformation (CP 1451): "While I understand Charlie's warnings, I...remain comfortable and confident going ahead." CP 1047. The Cherbergs completed

⁴ The Cherbergs waived the attorney–client privilege protecting their communications with Klinge when they (1) *prior to closing*, forwarded various pre-closing attorney–client communications to Burns (CP 1047-48, 2823–24), and to Robbs, and thus also to the Griffiths (CP 1266–67), (2) later designated him as a witness (CP 1333), and (3) produced his emails in discovery (CP 2006–2010, 2029–2041, 2043–2050).

the acquisition, intending to modify the landscape easement post-

closing,⁵ but never disclosed that to Fidelity. CP 395.

2. Post-closing communications establish the Cherbergs knew their case against Fidelity was "far from rock solid."

The Cherbergs' post-closing communications also establish the Cherbergs knew about the easements pre-closing. CP 1085. Klinge and the Cherbergs knew this posed problems for their claim for coverage:

> We thought there was one easement for dock and landscaping because I thought that was what the broker said. Plus the Purchase and Sale Agreement refers to an easement...This...semi [PSA] disclosure...along with being told by the broker make the case against [Fidelity] far from rock solid.

Id. Although Fidelity was not entitled to the Cherbergs' privileged communications during its claim investigation, the attorney–client privilege did not protect non-privileged facts underlying those communications. *Zink v. City of Mesa*, 162 Wn.

⁵ *Compare* CP 328–46, 1057–71 *with* CP 1047, 1624–27, 1630–34, 1637, 1639, 2793–99.

App. 688, 725, 256 P.3d 384 (2011). The Cherbergs failed to provide those underlying facts to Fidelity.

Meanwhile, other post-claim communications revealed Klinge advised the Cherbergs there was "not a rush to comply" with Fidelity's information requests because Fidelity might "try and claim" the Cherbergs "had" "some sort" of "knowledge" regarding the easements. CP 1092. "We can... consider whether to respond to Fidelity at this time, later, or not at all." *Id. See also* CP 1092 ("I did have 'some sort of knowledge,' from Kris Robbs...she told me [the Griffiths] had an easement to maintain the outcrop.").

After that, Klinge told Fidelity at least *three times* the Cherbergs did not know about the easements before closing. CP 362, 387, 393. The Cherbergs in response stated they hoped Klinge "puts Fidelity in a tizzy," applauding his "good show." CP 1562. "I remember your words well... 'There's method to my madness." *Id.*

F. Fidelity obtained summary judgment on multiple grounds, including the Cherbergs' failure to cooperate, Exclusion 3(a), and lack of damages evidence.

Fidelity moved for summary judgment asserting the Cherbergs breached the duty to cooperate, were barred by Exclusion 3(a), and lacked cognizable damages. Concerning Fidelity's cooperation defense (which the Cherbergs opposed in single line (e.g., claiming they "told the truth") (CP 612; CP 899)), the Superior Court ruled the Cherbergs (1) failed to substantially comply with (2) Fidelity's requests for material information and thereby (3) prejudiced Fidelity in its consideration of their claim. Tran, 136 Wn. 2d at 224, 228, 231. The Court also concluded *Cherberg II* required the conclusion that the Cherbergs consented to the easements under Exclusion 3(a). Compare RP 137 with CP 2352. Finally, the order concluded that "the Cherbergs' failure to respond with admissible evidence require[d] entry of judgment for Fidelity." CP 2355.

18

The Court of Appeals in part reversed the Superior Court concerning cooperation. Specifically, the Court affirmed the information Fidelity sought in its investigation was material, but held fact issues precluded summary judgment under *Tran*'s factors concerning compliance and prejudice because:

(1) The Cherbergs may not have intended to engage in"extreme" "stonewalling";

(2) Nothing suggests the Cherbergs knew the property was burdened by two easements (as opposed to one), or that those easements were recorded, or that the Cherbergs were aware of them by name, instrument number, metes and bounds, or exclusive effect; and

(3) Any absence of substantial compliance by the Cherbergs may not have negatively impacted Fidelity's ability to locate and identify the easements when issuing its policy.

The Court also found fact issues precluded summary judgment as to Exclusion 3(a).

Finally, in a footnote, the Court reversed the decision on damages, to which the Cherbergs did not assign error.

G. Fidelity sought reconsideration, noting the Opinion conflicts with *Tran*, *Barstad*, and *Tumwater*.

Fidelity moved for reconsideration, pointing out the Court's conclusions concerning substantial compliance and prejudice conflicted with this Court's decisions in Tran and Barstad. Respondent's Appellate Motion for Reconsideration (MFR) at 6-24. Fidelity also sought reconsideration under Exclusion 3(a) on the basis that the standard in *Tumwater* was met. The decision conflicts with *Tumwater* because the Cherbergs, by purchasing the property after negotiating the right to reform the landscape easement, consented to that easement under Exclusion 3(a). Compare MFR at 25–26 with RP 136–39 and CP 2352. Finally, Fidelity sought reconsideration concerning the conclusion that the appellate court did not need to reach Fidelity's alternative arguments, including those concerning damages. MFR at 26–31.

Reconsideration was denied by non-unanimous vote.

2

V. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

A. RAP 13.4(b)(1) warrants review because the Opinion conflicts with *Tran*.

This Court has long maintained that cooperation is central to the insurance relationship because obligations insureds and insurers owe each other assume a free and continuous exchange of information. *Staples v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 176 Wn.2d 404, 411, 295 P.3d 201 (2013). *Tran* is the leading authority by which courts ensure such ongoing exchanges of information are sufficiently forthright to balance the competing interests that exist between insureds and their insurers while promoting the fair and quick resolution of claims. 136 Wn.2d at 224, 228, 231. In concluding fact questions prevented judgment for Fidelity, the Court of Appeals recalibrated that balancing of interests by departing from *Tran*'s substantial compliance standards.

1. An insured does not substantially comply with an insurer's requests for material information by providing one-sided facts and withholding material information.

To substantially comply with an insurer's information requests, an insured must take steps sufficiently calculated to provide the insurer all non-privileged information reasonably requested of them. Georgian House, 21 Wn.2d at 494-95. "The only limitation on the requirement that insureds cooperate with the insurer's investigation is that the insurer's requests for information must be material to the circumstances giving rise to liability on its part." Tran, 136 Wn.2d at 224. Thus, an insured fails to substantially comply where, as here, an insured picks and chooses what information that insured will (and does) provide, and then withholds that which the insured unilaterally determines is irrelevant or otherwise wishes not to disclose. Georgian *House*, 21 Wn.2d at 494–95.

That is what the Cherbergs did here. The Court of Appeals nevertheless concluded the Cherbergs may have substantially complied with Fidelity's requests for material information by providing "their view of the facts," "consistently," "and in a way that explained why they provided no further information to Fidelity," 2024 WL 4930534, at *9. That analysis conflicts with *Tran* and *Georgian House*.

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