FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/25/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1039026

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

JAMES W. CHERBERG and NAN CHOT CHERBERG, husband and wife,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Linda B. Clapham, WSBA # 16735 Jeffrey D. Laveson, WSBA # 16351 Jason W. Anderson, WSBA # 30512 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, PS 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Respondents James W. Cherberg and Nan Chot Cherberg

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Division One correctly applied summary judgment standards to competing evidence on Fidelity's motion for summary judgment.

1. The trial court impermissibly weighed competing evidence.

Summary judgment is meant to determine whether a genuine issue of material fact exists—not to decide questions of fact. Decision at *6. In deciding a motion for summary judgment, the trial court must construe all facts and inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, here the Cherbergs. *Id*.

The trial court impermissibly decided disputed fact questions and entered findings as part of its summaryjudgment ruling. CP 2347—2357; *see* CR 56(d) (identifying the limited circumstances where a trial court may enter findings of fact on summary judgment); *Lundquist v*. *Seattle School Dist. No. 1*, No. 85589-1-I, 2025 WL 445407 *3 (Wash. Ct. App., Feb. 10, 2025)(unpublished)("If the

trial court makes findings of fact without satisfying CR 56(d), the findings are nullities."). By doing so, the trial court impermissibly weighed the competing evidence presented on summary judgment. *See Haley v. Amazon.com Services, LLC*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 207, 217, 522 P.3d 80 (2022) ("On summary judgment, the trial court may not weigh the evidence, assess credibility, consider the likelihood that the evidence will prove true, or otherwise resolve issues of material fact.").

Division One correctly reversed the trial court and concluded that Fidelity did not carry its burden of proof because "reasonable minds could differ on the facts concerning the Cherbergs' alleged knowledge of the Exclusive Easements and, in turn, their cooperation with Fidelity's investigation." Decision at *8; *see Asphy v. State*, 31 Wn. App. 2d 605, 630, 552 P.3d 325 (2024) ("When the evidence at summary judgment is susceptible to competing reasonable inferences, some supporting liability and others not, a fact question is presented that a jury must determine.").

Fidelity's petition seeks review of the Decision without even discussing the facts the Cherbergs presented about what they knew, when they knew it, and what remained unknown until after they purchased the property. These competing facts must be tried to a jury, and review should be denied for this reason alone.

2. The Decision recognized that Fidelity has no proof to support its two defenses to coverage.

To prove both its Exclusion 3(a) and cooperation defenses, Fidelity relies on two sources of documents.

First, Fidelity relies on "pre-closing" documents that consist of handwritten notes by Mr. Cherberg to himself that are vague and say nothing about an existing recorded exclusive-use easement. CP 1019–33. Fidelity takes great liberty in (impermissibly) construing these notes in its own favor. In addition, Fidelity relies on a single pre-closing email between Mr. Cherberg and his lawyer, Klinge. CP 1035.² This email says nothing about an existing recorded exclusive-use easement. Instead, it speaks about a "new easement" to be disclosed by the Griffiths, as it relates to the placement of the Cherbergs' planned dock.

Second, Fidelity relies on three *post-closing* emails between Mr. Cherberg and Klinge. Klinge had no obligation to produce these attorney–client privileged emails to Fidelity during its investigation. (RP 131: "To be clear, the Court is not finding the [Cherbergs] were required to provide attorney–client communications to Fidelity"). Moreover, these post-closing communications do not support Fidelity's defenses. Mr. Cherberg wrote that he was "venting" his "impatience and ire" with the

² Fidelity persists in citing the same email multiple times, as it did in its trial court briefing and again in its appellate briefing, to make it appear as though Cherberg and Klinge had several communications before closing. They did not. *See* Appendix A to Appellant's Opening Brief for the multiple instances in the record of the same email cited by Fidelity.

Griffiths, CP 1081; and Mr. Cherberg and Klinge discuss how to best negotiate with the recalcitrant neighbor. CP 1078–79, 1081–83. These discussions occurred three months before the Cherbergs' tender to Fidelity. The one privileged email discussion sent after the Cherbergs tendered to Fidelity can best be described as a discussion between an attorney and his client about how to carefully respond to an inquiry when they know the insurance company will use whatever they say against them, as Fidelity has done here. CP 1092.

As to both the "pre-closing" email and handwritten notes, and the "post-closing" conversations between Cherberg and Klinge, the Decision correctly acknowledges that "Fidelity essentially asks [the court] to "weigh" that evidence and "the likelihood that the evidence will prove true" against the evidence that someone may have told [the Cherbergs] more details about the Exclusive Easements."

Decision at *9. Such weighing is impermissible on summary judgment. *Asphy*, 31 Wn. App. 2d at 630.

B. The Decision properly applied the standards set forth in *Tran* and *Georgian House* for determining whether an insured has "substantially complied" with an insurer's request for information.

Fidelity asserts that the Decision conflicts with *Tran v. State Farm Fire & Casualty*, 136 Wn.2d 214, 961 P.2d 358 (1998), and *Georgian House of Interiors v. Glens Falls Insurance*, 21 Wn.2d 470, 151 P.2d 598 (1944), by recalibrating the "substantial compliance" duty of an insured to cooperate with its' insurer's request for information and permitting an insured to pick and choose what it provides. It did neither and review is not merited under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

1. The Decision is consistent with *Tran* and *Georgian House*

Division One recognized that, under *Tran*, to determine whether the Cherbergs' substantially complied with Fidelity's requests, it must first look to the policy

language. Decision at *8. The policy's Condition 6(b) is similar to the policy language in *Tran* and broadly states that an insured may be required "to produce for examination, inspection and copying...*all* records...that reasonably pertain to the loss or damage." *Id*.

Tran involved a claim for theft coverage where the insured appeared for an examination under oath but *refused* to answer many of the questions posed and *refused* to provide financial records when specifically requested by the insurer. And *Georgian House* involved a fire-insurance claim where the insured not only *refused* to submit to an EUO, but also *refused* to respond to the insurer's request for specific books and records in support of his claim of loss and wrote to the insurer that "he could not see what would be gained by complying with the request." *Id.* at 493; *see also Pilgrim v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.*, 89 Wn. App. 712, 717, 950 P.2d 479 (1997) (burglary claim, insured *refused* to provide requested financial documents); *U.S.*

Fire Ins. Co. v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., 572 F. Supp. 3d 1047, 1061 (W.D. Wash. 2021) (lost-profits claim under a marine insurance policy, insured *refused* insurer's request for specific documents, records and written itemization of expenses). In contrast to these cases, here, the Cherbergs did not refuse anything requested by Fidelity.

Instead of departing from *Tran's* "substantial compliance" standard, the Decision relies on *Tran* and *Georgian House* to hold that Fidelity cannot meet its burden of proving there are no questions of fact about whether the Cherbergs failed to "substantially comply" with Fidelity's request for material information for three reasons.

First, none of the documents that Fidelity alleges the Cherbergs should have provided reference the *exclusivity* feature of *two* easements, and a reasonable jury could find that Fidelity's evidence "does not establish that the Cherbergs had knowledge of such sweeping limitations on their new property;" and the Cherbergs' response that they did not know of two *recorded* exclusive-use easements prior to closing was consistent with their duty to cooperate. Decision at *8.

Second, Fidelity ignores the Cherbergs' evidence supporting their claim that they were ignorant of the Exclusive Easements. As Division One concluded, whether Mr. Cherberg is credible is not pertinent to a summaryjudgment motion.

Finally, Division One held that Fidelity had not met its burden because the Cherbergs did in fact respond to Fidelity's two requests for information. Fidelity would have the Court weigh the content and veracity of these responses and determine whether the Cherbergs should have provided more. Contrary to Fidelity's argument, the Decision does not create a new standard to analyze "substantial compliance" with an insurer's investigation.

Instead, it is entirely consistent with Tran and Georgian

House.

- C. Nothing about the Decision conflicts with *Tran's* holding that the insurer has the burden to prove actual prejudice. Fidelity simply did not meet its burden.
 - 1. Fidelity alleges, but does not explain, how any of the documents it alleges the Cherbergs should have provided earlier could have changed its decision to accept coverage.

Fidelity alleges that it suffered actual prejudice because it was deprived of "an opportunity to fully investigate [the Cherbergs'] claim, promptly invoke or reserve Exclusion 3(a), or outright deny coverage" because the Cherbergs did not provide the pre-closing and postclosing documents discussed, *supra*. Petition at 26–29. Hindsight is 20/20. The problem is that Fidelity has never explained why it was prevented from fully investigating, why it did not initially invoke Exclusion 3(a) based on the PSA addendum the Cherbergs provided to Fidelity, or on what basis Fidelity could have reasonably denied coverage if it had the documents earlier. Division One correctly rejected Fidelity's unsupported allegation of actual prejudice and held that "reasonable minds could differ as to whether the Cherbergs' alleged failure to disclose impeded Fidelity's ability to investigate or complete its investigation." Decision at *10.

Further, and contrary to Fidelity's assertion, the Decision does not rely on *C* 1031 Properties v. First American Title Insurance Co., 175 Wn. App. 27, 301 P.3d 500 (2013), to conclude that Fidelity failed to meet its burden of proving it had been actually prejudiced. *C* 1031 Properties held that "[b]y paying consideration to a title insurer for their expert services in uncovering defects in title, it is reasonable for the insured to believe and rely upon the fact that the insurer has discovered any encumbrances recorded in the public record." *C* 1031 Props., 175 Wn. App. at 32. The Decision acknowledged this holding and noted that a reasonable juror could

conclude the Cherbergs' failure to provide their handwritten notes "did nothing to impact" Fidelity's investigation. But *C 1031 Properties* was not the basis for Division One's conclusion that Fidelity had failed to meet its burden of proving it was actually prejudiced. It was Fidelity's own failure of proof.

2. The Decision does not rely on *Barstad* for its conclusion that Fidelity failed to meet its burden of proving actual prejudice.

Fidelity also loosely asserts that the Decision conflicts with *Barstad v. Stewart Title Guaranty Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 528, 39 P.3d 984 (2002). It does not. The Decision is not based on a title company's obligations in issuing a commitment for title. Instead, Division One acknowledged that by purchasing title insurance, it was reasonable for the Cherbergs to rely on Fidelity's obligation to discover any recorded encumbrances, independent of any disclosures by the Cherbergs. Decision *10. Indeed, Fidelity has never tried to explain how or why it made this terrible mistake on the Cherbergs' title commitment and policy.

D. Fidelity has no evidence whatsoever to show that the Cherbergs had "something more than knowledge" of a vague reference to a single easement in the PSA to invoke Exclusion 3(a). For this reason, the Decision is entirely consistent with *Tumwater*.

Fidelity relied on *Tumwater State Bank v*. *Commonwealth Land Title Insurance of Philadelphia*, 51 Wn. App. 166, 752 P.2d 930 (1988), and Exclusion 3(a) to deny coverage after defending the Cherbergs for over two years in litigation initiated by Fidelity against their neighbors and before that litigation was completed. CP 482–85. In its denial letter, Fidelity accused the Cherbergs of knowing about the exclusive-use landscape easement *and* its impact prior to purchasing their property. *Id*.³ Neither is correct.

In *Tumwater*, the title insurer argued that the insured mortgage lender "assumed or agreed to" preexisting encumbrances because it was aware of prior existing liens on the property at the time it made a loan. The court held that the insurer failed to establish that the exclusion applied because there was no indication the insured had agreed that its mortgage would occupy a secondary position to preexisting liens and "*something more than knowledge* on the part of the insured is necessary to bar coverage." *Id.* at 170 (emphasis added). The court also held that "an insured's knowledge of record defects or negligence in failing to discover them does not bar coverage" under 3(a). *Id.*

³ Fidelity's conclusion was based on incorrect and disputed facts. There were several other problems with what Fidelity did, but those problems relate to the Cherbergs' claims for bad faith and will not be discussed here.

Nothing about the Decision is contrary to *Tumwater*, which requires that before Fidelity may deny coverage based on Exclusion 3(a), it must have proof that the had Cherbergs something more than a vague understanding of a landscape easement referenced in the PSA that Robbs explained meant: "He maintains this. You maintain that." CP 498. Here, the Cherbergs were entitled to rely on the title report to confirm the easement mentioned in the PSA had not been recorded. C 1031 Props., 175 Wn. App. at 32. Nor is there a shred of evidence that the Cherbergs had pre-closing knowledge they were exclusive-use easements.

E. The Decision does not conflict with *Young*.

Finally, Fidelity suggests that footnote 8 of the Decision conflicts with *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989), because the Cherbergs failed to present evidence to support each of their damages claims on summary judgment. While the parties disagree over the amount of the diminution in value, there can be no credible dispute that the Cherbergs' have suffered damage because of Fidelity's mistake and that the Cherbergs presented evidence of those damages. *See, e.g.*, CP 677–718 (Cherbergs' expert appraisal report); CP 658–75 (Fidelity's expert appraisal report agreeing that the Cherbergs have incurred diminution in property value damages.) Division One correctly noted in footnote 8 that the Cherbergs undisputedly offered sufficient evidence under CR 56 of the *fact* of various forms of loss or damage and the *amount* of those damages will be determined by a jury.

V. CONCLUSION

The Cherbergs respectfully ask this Court to deny Fidelity's petition for review and allow them their day in court without further delay.

This document contains 4,382 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.